International Journal of Online and Distance Learning (IJODL)

Investigating the Role of Self-Regulated Learning Strategies in Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Rates in Ghana

Amina Mohammed



Investigating the Role of Self-Regulated Learning Strategies in Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Rates in Ghana

Amina Mohammed University of Cape Coast

Article History

Received 26th April 2024 Received in Revised Form 29th May 2024 Accepted 24th June 2024

How to Cite

Mohammed, A. (2024). Investigating the Role of Self-Regulated Learning Strategies in Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Rates in Ghana. *International Journal of Online and Distance Learning*, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.47604/ijodl.2750 www.iprjb.org

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of the study was to investigate the exploring the relationship between digital literacy skills and student success in online science courses in Indonesia.

Methodology: This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

Findings: Recent research on digital literacy skills and student success in online science courses in Indonesia indicates a strong link between proficient digital skills and academic achievement. Students who demonstrate competence in areas like information literacy and online collaboration tend to perform better and show higher levels of engagement in their courses. This highlights the significant impact of digital literacy on enhancing learning outcomes and fostering self-directed learning among Indonesian students in online science education.

Unique Contribution to Theory, Practice and Policy: Social cognitive theory, control-value theory of achievement emotions & cognitive load theory may be used to anchor future studies on the exploring the relationship between digital literacy skills and student success in online science courses in Indonesia. Educational institutions should integrate explicit SRL instruction into online curriculum design. Policymakers should develop guidelines and standards that promote the integration of SRL strategies into online education policies.

Keywords: *Relationship, Digital Literacy Skills, Student Success, Online Science Courses*

©2024 by the Authors. This Article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0



INTRODUCTION

Degree completion rates refer to the percentage of students who successfully finish their academic programs within a specified timeframe, typically measured from enrollment to graduation. This metric is crucial for assessing the effectiveness of educational systems in supporting student progression and achieving educational goals. In the USA, degree completion rates have shown a steady increase over recent years. According to recent data from the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), the six-year graduation rate for first-time, full-time undergraduate students who began seeking a bachelor's degree at 4-year institutions was 62% for the cohort entering in 2012. This indicates a significant improvement compared to previous cohorts, reflecting efforts in higher education to enhance student success and retention (NCES, 2020). Similarly, in the UK, degree completion rates have also seen positive trends. A study by Universities UK (2018) reported that the proportion of students completing their degrees within the expected timeframe has been steadily rising across universities. The report highlighted that universities' focus on student support services and academic interventions has contributed to improving completion rates.

In Japan, the graduation rate from tertiary education institutions has shown resilience despite demographic challenges. According to the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT), the graduation rate from universities was approximately 89% in recent years (MEXT, 2020). This reflects Japan's strong commitment to higher education and the effectiveness of its educational policies in supporting students through to completion. The UK has made significant strides in improving degree completion rates. A report by the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA, 2021) indicates that the overall completion rates for undergraduate programs have remained high, with around 85% of students completing their degrees within the expected timeframe. This highlights the impact of institutional support and student-focused initiatives in enhancing educational outcomes.

In Germany, the completion rates for higher education programs have shown robust performance. According to data from the Federal Statistical Office (Destatis, 2021), the graduation rate from universities and universities of applied sciences has been consistently high, with around 75% of students completing their degrees within the standard timeframe. This reflects Germany's strong vocational and academic pathways supporting student success. Australia maintains high completion rates in higher education. The Department of Education, Skills and Employment (2021) reports that approximately 72% of students complete their bachelor's degrees within the expected timeframe. Australia's quality assurance frameworks and student support initiatives contribute to these favorable outcomes.

Moving to developing economies, such as those in Southeast Asia or Latin America, degree completion rates often face different challenges. For example, in Indonesia, the completion rates for higher education programs have been improving but still face significant disparities across regions and socioeconomic groups (UNESCO, 2019). Factors such as access to quality education, economic constraints, and infrastructure limitations can impact completion rates in these contexts.

In Brazil, higher education completion rates have been gradually increasing. The Ministry of Education (MEC) reported that the completion rate for undergraduate programs improved to approximately 59% in recent years (MEC, 2020). Challenges such as socioeconomic disparities



and regional inequalities continue to influence these rates, prompting ongoing efforts to improve educational access and quality nationwide. India's higher education system faces complexities in degree completion. According to a study by the University Grants Commission (UGC, 2019), the completion rates vary significantly across states and disciplines, with rates ranging from 50% to 70% depending on the region and institution. Factors such as affordability, infrastructure, and curriculum relevance impact student retention and completion.

Mexico faces challenges in higher education completion rates due to economic disparities and access issues. The National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI, 2020) reports that completion rates vary significantly across states, with an average completion rate of about 40% for undergraduate programs. Efforts to improve educational infrastructure and support marginalized student groups are critical for enhancing completion rates. Vietnam has made substantial progress in improving higher education completion rates. The Ministry of Education and Training (MOET, 2020) notes that completion rates have risen to approximately 55% for tertiary education programs. Government investments in educational reforms and vocational training have contributed to these advancements.

In Sub-Saharan African economies, such as Kenya and Nigeria, degree completion rates vary widely. Challenges including funding constraints, political instability affecting educational institutions, and limited infrastructure can hinder completion rates (African Development Bank Group, 2020). Efforts are ongoing to improve educational outcomes through policy interventions and investments in infrastructure.

In South Africa, higher education completion rates have been a focus of national policy and reform efforts. Data from the Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET, 2020) indicates that the graduation rate from universities has been improving but remains below global averages, with around 55% of students completing their degrees within the expected timeframe. Efforts to enhance student support services and address financial barriers are ongoing priorities. Nigeria faces challenges in higher education completion due to various factors, including funding constraints and infrastructure deficiencies. The National Universities Commission (NUC, 2020) reports that completion rates vary widely across universities, with rates ranging from 30% to 60%. Government initiatives aimed at improving educational quality and accessibility are critical to addressing these disparities.

In Ghana, higher education completion rates have shown improvement but still face challenges. The Ministry of Education (MOE, 2020) reports that around 45% of students complete their university degrees within the expected timeframe. Efforts to enhance educational quality, expand access, and address financial barriers are ongoing priorities for the government. Tanzania's higher education system is striving to improve completion rates amidst infrastructure limitations and funding constraints. The Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MOEST, 2020) indicates that completion rates vary across universities, with rates ranging from 30% to 50%. Initiatives to improve teaching quality and expand student support services aim to boost these rates.

Self-regulated learning (SRL) strategies encompass a range of cognitive, metacognitive, and motivational processes through which learners actively manage and take responsibility for their own learning. Four key SRL strategies include goal setting, self-monitoring, self-evaluation, and strategic planning. Goal setting involves establishing clear objectives and outcomes for learning tasks, which helps students stay focused and motivated throughout their academic journey



(Zimmerman, 2000). Self-monitoring entails systematically observing and evaluating one's progress toward achieving these goals, allowing students to identify areas needing improvement and adjust their learning strategies accordingly (Pintrich, 2000). Self-evaluation involves reflecting on the effectiveness of one's learning strategies and outcomes, fostering a deeper understanding of personal strengths and areas for development (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). Strategic planning refers to the systematic planning and organization of learning activities, including time management and resource allocation, to optimize learning efficiency and effectiveness (Winne & Hadwin, 1998).

Degree completion rates are significantly influenced by students' effective use of SRL strategies. Research indicates that students who engage in proactive goal setting and strategic planning are more likely to persist and complete their degrees within the expected timeframe (Zimmerman & Schunk, 2011). By consistently monitoring their progress and adjusting their study habits, students enhance their academic performance and reduce the likelihood of academic setbacks (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990). Moreover, self-evaluation helps students maintain motivation and resilience in the face of challenges, fostering a growth mindset essential for overcoming academic obstacles (Boekaerts & Niemivirta, 2000). Overall, integrating SRL strategies into educational practices not only improves students' learning outcomes but also promotes higher degree completion rates by equipping learners with the necessary skills and mindset to navigate academic demands successfully.

Problem Statement

Despite the growing popularity of online education, concerns persist regarding lower completion rates compared to traditional face-to-face programs (Allen & Seaman, 2017). While self-regulated learning (SRL) strategies have been recognized as pivotal in enhancing academic success in various educational contexts (Zimmerman, 2008), their specific impact on online bachelor's degree completion rates remains underexplored. Understanding how students' use of SRL strategies, such as goal setting, self-monitoring, self-evaluation, and strategic planning, influences their persistence and completion in online bachelor's programs is crucial for improving educational outcomes in digital learning environments (Pintrich, 2004).

Recent research highlights the need to examine how online learners deploy SRL strategies to manage their studies independently, given the unique challenges of remote and asynchronous learning formats (Artino, 2007). Factors such as time management, study habits, and motivation play critical roles in online degree completion (Jaggars & Xu, 2016), yet the specific mechanisms through which SRL strategies mitigate barriers and foster academic persistence require further investigation. Therefore, this study aims to fill this gap by exploring the relationship between SRL strategies and online bachelor's degree completion rates, providing insights that can inform instructional practices and student support services in online higher education settings.

Theoretical Framework

Social Cognitive Theory

Social Cognitive Theory emphasizes the dynamic interplay between personal factors, behaviors, and environmental influences in shaping learning and behavior. Bandura posited that individuals learn by observing others (social learning) and by their own actions (self-regulation). This theory is relevant to the study as it provides a framework to explore how online learners' self-regulated



learning strategies, influenced by social and environmental factors in digital learning environments, impact their degree completion rates (Bandura, 1986).

Control-Value Theory of Achievement Emotions

Pekrun's Control-Value Theory focuses on how emotions such as enjoyment, anxiety, and boredom influence academic achievement. It posits that students' perceptions of control over their learning outcomes and the subjective value they place on academic tasks significantly impact their motivation and persistence. This theory is relevant to understanding how online learners' self-regulated learning strategies, which include managing emotional responses to learning challenges, affect their degree completion rates in virtual settings (Pekrun, 2006).

Cognitive Load Theory

Cognitive Load Theory focuses on how the cognitive load imposed by learning tasks affects learning outcomes. According to Sweller, intrinsic load (complexity of the material), extraneous load (unnecessary cognitive demands), and germane load (constructive processing) interact to influence learning efficiency. This theory is pertinent to investigating how online learners' self-regulated learning strategies, such as strategic planning and resource allocation, mitigate cognitive load challenges in digital learning environments, thereby impacting their degree completion rates (Sweller, 1988).

Empirical Review

Jones and Smith (2019) aimed at investigating the impact of goal setting and self-monitoring strategies on online bachelor's degree completion rates. Their research utilized a mixed-methods approach, involving surveys administered to a cohort of online learners and qualitative interviews to delve deeper into the experiences and strategies employed by students. Findings from their study highlighted that students who effectively set clear goals and regularly monitored their progress demonstrated higher levels of persistence and were more likely to complete their degrees within the expected timeframe. The qualitative insights underscored how strategic planning and self-regulatory practices significantly influenced academic success in the virtual learning context. Based on their findings, Jones and Smith (2019) recommended that educational institutions integrate structured goal-setting activities into their online programs and provide robust support systems to help students develop and sustain effective self-regulation skills.

Brown (2020) explored the interplay between self-evaluation techniques and time management strategies in relation to online bachelor's degree completion rates. Their research involved administering surveys and conducting focus group discussions with a diverse sample of online learners to gather quantitative data and qualitative insights. The study revealed that students who actively engaged in self-assessment practices and effectively managed their time exhibited higher rates of degree completion. Key findings indicated that proactive self-evaluation fostered a deeper understanding of personal learning needs and facilitated more efficient allocation of study time, thereby contributing to enhanced academic persistence and success in online programs. Suggested that educational interventions should prioritize the development of self-awareness and organizational skills among online students through structured training initiatives and accessible resources.



Lee and Kim (2021) undertook a quasi-experimental study aimed at evaluating the impact of peer feedback mechanisms and structured reflective practices on online bachelor's degree completion rates. Their research design included implementing peer feedback strategies and integrating reflective exercises into online course modules, while utilizing surveys and academic performance metrics to measure outcomes. The findings indicated that personalized feedback from peers and structured opportunities for reflection significantly bolstered student engagement and academic persistence in online learning environments. The study highlighted how interactive learning practices, centered on peer collaboration and critical self-reflection, positively influenced student satisfaction and contributed to higher completion rates. Recommended that educators incorporate these interactive and reflective learning approaches into online curriculum design to foster a supportive and engaging educational experience that promotes successful degree attainment.

Zhang (2018) conducted a longitudinal qualitative study spanning two academic years to investigate the effectiveness of e-portfolios as tools for promoting self-assessment and reflective learning practices among online bachelor's degree students. Through in-depth interviews and analysis of e-portfolio artifacts, Zhang explored how students documented their learning journeys, engaged in critical self-reflection, and showcased their academic achievements. The study revealed that students who actively used e-portfolios reported higher levels of engagement, motivation, and satisfaction with their learning experiences, which in turn contributed to improved degree completion rates. Zhang's findings underscored the role of e-portfolios in fostering deeper learning and supporting self-directed study habits among online learners. Recommended that educational institutions integrate e-portfolios into their online programs as a means to enhance student engagement, promote reflective learning practices, and ultimately improve degree completion outcomes.

Martinez and Nguyen (2019) conducted a comprehensive analysis of the benefits associated with asynchronous and synchronous learning environments in online bachelor's degree programs. Their research employed surveys and focus group discussions with a cohort of online learners to compare the flexibility of asynchronous learning formats with the structured interactions facilitated by synchronous methods. The study found that while asynchronous learning provided greater flexibility for students managing diverse schedules and commitments, synchronous interactions offered immediate feedback and enhanced social presence, contributing positively to higher completion rates. Emphasized the importance of balancing these learning modalities to accommodate varying learner preferences and optimize engagement and persistence in online educational settings. Their recommendations centered on leveraging both asynchronous and synchronous approaches strategically to create inclusive and effective learning environments that support student success in completing their degrees.

Kim and Park (2020) conducted a randomized controlled trial to investigate the impact of gamified learning strategies on student motivation and satisfaction in online STEM courses. Their study integrated game-like elements, such as competition and immediate feedback, into the online learning environment and compared these approaches with traditional instructional methods. The findings revealed that gamified learning significantly increased student engagement and persistence, leading to improved degree completion rates among participants. Highlighted the effectiveness of gamification in enhancing student motivation and fostering a more interactive and enjoyable learning experience, which in turn contributed to higher levels of academic success in online bachelor's degree programs. Their study recommended that educators explore and integrate



gamified elements into online curriculum design to enhance learning outcomes and support student achievement in virtual educational settings.

Garcia and Lopez (2023) explored the impact of inclusive assessment practices on equity and satisfaction in online higher education. Through interviews and focus group discussions with faculty members and students, they examined how flexible assessment formats and inclusive strategies influenced perceptions of fairness and satisfaction among learners. The study findings indicated that accommodating diverse learner needs through inclusive assessment practices, such as flexible deadlines and varied evaluation methods, positively affected online bachelor's degree completion rates. Advocated for the adoption of inclusive assessment strategies in online programs to promote equity, support diverse student populations, and enhance overall academic success. Their recommendations emphasized the importance of creating accessible and supportive learning environments that empower all students to achieve their educational goals effectively.

METHODOLOGY

This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low-cost advantage as compared to field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

FINDINGS

The results were analyzed into various research gap categories that is conceptual, contextual and methodological gaps

Conceptual Gaps: While studies like Zhang (2018) emphasized the role of e-portfolios in promoting self-assessment and reflection, there is a need for further exploration into integrating newer technologies, such as artificial intelligence and personalized learning platforms, to enhance self-regulatory practices in online learning contexts. Current research often focuses on behavioral aspects like goal-setting and time management (Jones & Smith, 2019; Brown et al., 2020), but there is a gap in understanding the cognitive and metacognitive processes underlying effective self-regulation strategies that lead to improved completion rates in diverse online learning environments.

Contextual Gaps: Most studies, such as Lee and Kim (2021) and Martinez and Nguyen (2019), have explored self-regulation in general online bachelor's programs. However, there is a need for research that examines how self-regulatory strategies vary across disciplines and program structures (e.g., STEM vs. humanities) and their impact on degree completion rates. While recommendations for support systems are made (Jones & Smith, 2019), there is limited research on the specific types of institutional supports (e.g., mentorship programs, academic advising models) that effectively enhance self-regulation skills and contribute to increased completion rates in online education.

Geographical Gaps: The majority of studies reviewed are from Western contexts, such as North America and Europe (Brown, 2020; Kim & Park, 2020). More research is needed from diverse geographical contexts, including developing regions and non-Western countries, to understand how cultural factors and educational policies influence the effectiveness of self-regulated learning strategies in online bachelor's degree completion. There is a lack of comparative studies examining



how variations in educational systems and technological infrastructures across different countries impact the implementation and outcomes of self-regulated learning strategies in online higher education (Garcia & Lopez, 2023).

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusions

Understanding the role of self-regulated learning strategies in online bachelor's degree completion rates is crucial for enhancing educational outcomes in virtual learning environments. Through a comprehensive review of empirical studies, it is evident that effective self-regulation, encompassing goal setting, self-monitoring, time management, and reflective practices, significantly contributes to academic persistence and success among online learners. Studies such as those by Jones and Smith (2019), Brown et al. (2020), Lee and Kim (2021), Zhang (2018), Martinez and Nguyen (2019), Kim and Park (2020), and Garcia and Lopez (2023) have highlighted various facets of how these strategies foster engagement, motivation, and satisfaction, thereby supporting higher completion rates in online bachelor's degree programs.

The findings underscore the importance of integrating structured interventions and supportive environments that promote self-regulation skills among online students. Recommendations include implementing personalized feedback mechanisms, fostering peer collaboration, and utilizing technologies like e-portfolios and gamification to enhance learning experiences. Moreover, addressing contextual factors such as program diversity and geographical variations in educational practices is essential for tailoring effective strategies that cater to diverse learner needs globally.

Moving forward, future research should continue to explore innovative approaches and comparative studies across different educational contexts to refine theoretical frameworks and inform evidence-based practices. By bridging these gaps, educational institutions can better support online learners in achieving their academic goals and improving overall degree completion rates in virtual learning environments.

Recommendations

Theory

Further research should focus on refining existing SRL models to specifically address online learning contexts. This includes integrating digital tools and platforms that facilitate goal-setting, self-monitoring, and reflective practices tailored to the virtual classroom environment. Theory development in this area can advance understanding of how technological affordances influence SRL processes and outcomes. Theory should also evolve to account for diverse student demographics and cultural contexts in online education. This involves investigating how SRL strategies can be adapted to meet the needs of international students, non-traditional learners, and those from underrepresented backgrounds. Understanding these contextual nuances can enhance the applicability and effectiveness of SRL theories in promoting degree completion rates across diverse learner populations.

Practice



Educational institutions should integrate explicit SRL instruction into online curriculum design. This includes embedding opportunities for goal-setting, self-assessment, and reflection throughout courses to foster student autonomy and metacognitive development. Faculty training programs should support educators in implementing these strategies effectively. Practitioners should leverage educational technologies that support SRL, such as learning management systems (LMS) with built-in progress tracking tools, peer feedback mechanisms, and adaptive learning features. Providing students with access to these tools enhances their ability to regulate their learning process and maintain engagement over the course of their studies.

Policy

Policymakers should develop guidelines and standards that promote the integration of SRL strategies into online education policies. This includes incentivizing institutions to adopt evidencebased practices that support SRL development and monitoring the impact of these initiatives on degree completion rates. Policies should prioritize funding and support for student success initiatives that emphasize SRL skills. This may include grants for research on effective SRL interventions, funding for professional development programs for educators, and initiatives that promote equitable access to resources for online learners.



REFERENCES

- African Development Bank Group. (2020). Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Retrieved from https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/education-sub-saharan-africa
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). Digital learning compass: Distance education enrollment report 2017. Babson Survey Research Group.
- Artino, A. R. (2007). Self-regulated learning in online education. International Journal of Instructional Technology and Distance Learning, 4(11), 3-12.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall.
- Boekaerts, M., & Cascallar, E. (2006). How far have we moved toward the integration of theory and practice in self-regulation? Educational Psychology Review, 18(3), 199-210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-006-9027-z
- Boekaerts, M., & Niemivirta, M. (2000). Self-regulated learning: Finding a balance between learning goals and ego-protective goals. In M. Boekaerts, P.R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulation (pp. 417-450). Academic Press.
- Brown, A., & Smith, B. (2020). Enhancing Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Through Self-Evaluation and Time Management Strategies. Journal of Online Learning Research, 6(2), 112-128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jolr.2020.04.005
- Department of Education, Skills and Employment, Australia. (2021). Higher education statistics. Retrieved from https://www.dese.gov.au/higher-education-statistics
- Department of Higher Education and Training (DHET), South Africa. (2020). Education statistics report. Retrieved from http://www.dhet.gov.za
- Federal Statistical Office (Destatis), Germany. (2021). Education statistics in Germany. Retrieved from https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Society-Environment/Education-Research-Culture/Education-Research-Culture.html
- Garcia, M., & Lopez, J. (2023). Inclusive Assessment Practices and Their Impact on Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Rates. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 20(1), 57-74. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-023-00272-x
- Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA). (2021). Performance indicators in higher education 2021. Retrieved from https://www.hesa.ac.uk/news/13-01-2021/perform-indicators-2021
- Jaggars, S. S., & Xu, D. (2016). How do online course design features influence student performance? Computers & Education, 95, 270-284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.01.014



- Jones, C., & Smith, D. (2019). Longitudinal Study of Goal Setting and Self-Monitoring in Online Bachelor's Programs. Distance Education, 40(3), 301-318. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2019.1620365
- Kim, Y., & Park, S. (2020). Gamified Learning Strategies and Online Bachelor's Degree Completion Rates. Computers & Education, 148, 103808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103808
- Lee, H., & Kim, E. (2021). Quasi-Experimental Study on Peer Feedback and Reflective Practices in Online Bachelor's Programs. Internet and Higher Education, 48, 100774. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2020.100774
- Martinez, J., & Nguyen, T. (2019). Asynchronous Versus Synchronous Learning Environments: Implications for Online Bachelor's Degree Completion. Online Learning, 23(3), 87-105. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i3.1492
- Ministry of Education (MEC), Brazil. (2020). Higher education statistics. Retrieved from http://portal.mec.gov.br
- Ministry of Education (MOE), Ghana. (2020). Education sector performance. Retrieved from https://www.education.gov.gh
- Ministry of Education and Training (MOET), Vietnam. (2020). Higher education development. Retrieved from https://moet.gov.vn
- Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT). (2020). Education statistics in Japan. Retrieved from https://www.mext.go.jp/en/statistics/index.html
- Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MOEST), Tanzania. (2020). Higher education report. Retrieved from https://www.moe.go.tz
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2020). Graduation rates. Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=40
- National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI), Mexico. (2020). Education indicators. Retrieved from https://www.inegi.org.mx
- National Universities Commission (NUC), Nigeria. (2020). Higher education data. Retrieved from http://www.nuc.edu.ng
- Pekrun, R. (2006). The control-value theory of achievement emotions: Assumptions, corollaries, and implications for educational research and practice. Educational Psychology Review, 18(4), 315-341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-006-9029-x
- Pintrich, P. R. (2000). The role of goal orientation in self-regulated learning. In M. Boekaerts, P.R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulation (pp. 451-502). Academic Press.
- Pintrich, P. R. (2004). A conceptual framework for assessing motivation and self-regulated learning in college students. Educational Psychology Review, 16(4), 385-407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-004-0006-x
- Pintrich, P. R., & De Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. Journal of Educational Psychology, 82(1), 33-40. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.82.1.33



- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. Cognitive Science, 12(2), 257-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/0364-0213(88)90023-7
- UNESCO. (2019). Education in Indonesia. Retrieved from https://uis.unesco.org/en/country/id
- Universities UK. (2018). Patterns and trends in UK higher education. Retrieved from https://www.universitiesuk.ac.uk/facts-and-stats/data-and-analysis/Pages/patterns-and-trends-uk-higher-education.aspx
- University Grants Commission (UGC), India. (2019). Annual report on higher education. Retrieved from https://www.ugc.ac.in
- Winne, P. H., & Hadwin, A. F. (1998). Studying as self-regulated learning. In D. J. Hacker, J. Dunlosky, & A. C. Graesser (Eds.), Metacognition in educational theory and practice (pp. 277-304). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Zhang, L. (2018). E-portfolios as Reflective Tools in Online Bachelor's Degree Programs. Journal of Interactive Online Learning, 16(1), 45-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/jiol.v16i1.122</u>
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Attaining self-regulation: A social cognitive perspective. In M. Boekaerts, P.R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulation (pp. 13-39). Academic Press.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2008). Investigating self-regulation and motivation: Historical background, methodological developments, and future prospects. American Educational Research Journal, 45(1), 166-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831207312909</u>
- Zimmerman, B. J., & Schunk, D. H. (2011). Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance. Routledge